
 
 

CABINET 
Agenda 
 
 

Date Monday 16th October 2023 
 

Time 6.00 pm 
 

Venue Crompton Suite, Civic Centre, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1NL 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires advice on any 
item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect his/her 
ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul Entwistle or 
Constitutional Services at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this agenda is Constitutional Services Tel. 0161 
770 5151 or email constitutional.services@oldham.gov.uk  
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - Any Member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the contact officer by 12 noon on Wednesday, 11 
October 2023. 
 
4.  FILMING - The Council, members of the public and the press may record 
/ film / photograph or broadcast this meeting when the public and the press 
are not lawfully excluded.  Any member of the public who attends a meeting 
and objects to being filmed should advise the Constitutional Services Officer 
who will instruct that they are not included in the filming. 
 
Please note that anyone using recording equipment both audio and visual 
will not be permitted to leave the equipment in the room where a private 
meeting is held. 
 
Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law 
including the law of defamation, the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection 
Act and the law on public order offences. 
 
Please also note the Public attendance Protocol on the Council’s Website 
 
https://www.oldham.gov.uk/homepage/1449/attending_council_meetings 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE CABINET 
 Councillors Ali, Brownridge, Dean, Goodwin, F Hussain, Jabbar, Mushtaq, 

Shah and Taylor 
 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/homepage/1449/attending_council_meetings


 
 

Item No  

1   Apologies For Absence  

2   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

4   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

5   Minutes (Pages 1 - 8) 

 The Minutes of the meetings of the Cabinet held on 18th September 2023 and on 
2nd October 2023 are attached for approval. 

6   Rubrik Air Gap Backup Solution (Pages 9 - 14) 

 To ensure that Council services and data are protected against loss and to 
protect against accidental deletion, corruption or other error leading to a loss of 
information. 

7   Creating a Better Place Update (Pages 15 - 30) 

 A report that provides an update on the strategic progress of the Creating a 
Better Place regeneration programme, including external funding opportunities 
secured, benefits realised for specific projects and the associated Social Value 
generated to Create a Better Place. 

8   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following two items of 
business on the grounds that they contain exempt information under paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and it would not, on balance, be in the 
public interest to disclose the reports. 

9   Rubrik Air Gap Backup Solution (Pages 31 - 38) 

 To consider the recommendations in the confidential report. 

10   Creating a Better Place Update (Pages 39 - 66) 

 To consider the recommendations in the confidential report. 



 

CABINET 
18/09/2023 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillor Shah (Chair) 
Councillors Ali, Brownridge, Dean, Goodwin, F Hussain, Jabbar, 
Mushtaq and Taylor 
 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

There were no apologies for absence received.  

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

Two public questions were received: 
The first question was submitted by Sam Al-Hamdani, 
In response to a question on the spending on a new pitch for 
Oldham Athletic, Councillor Shah stated that "in the event that 
clawback is required, to enable the Council to recover any of the 
grant deemed ineligible, the formal procedure would be for 
Officers to prepare a formal report for the relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) and then depending on the nature of the concerns / 
issues being raised, this could then be escalated to Cabinet. In 
either occurrence, the formal decision relating to the issues and 
enactment of clawback would be a matter of public record." She 
stated further – although not minuted – that this was her 
understanding, anyway, and that she was not aware of any 
circumstance – not in her leadership or her time in the cabinet – 
that has been done behind closed doors in the way that I was 
describing. 
I would like to refer Councillor Shah to the decision – a term 
which here must be used very loosely – taken with regards to 
the clawback clause (7.11 Relevant Period) contained within the 
Grant Funding Agreement dated 19th August 2011, for the new 
stand at Oldham Athletic. The disposal took place in 2016, while 
she was in the cabinet. That clawback clause was not pursued. 
Having had meetings with the senior management team at the 
Council, I understand that no report was ever produced, and no 
concerns ever escalated to Cabinet. There is no formal record of 
any decision on this matter.  
Before we even consider the merits of the decision itself, can 
she explain how this decision was taken with regards to a grant 
from Oldham Council for £700,000, a very substantial amount of 
money, with no report, and no formal record of the decision? 
How can Oldhamers be confident that there weren't other 
decisions taken in exactly the same way, as she was unaware of 
this one which took place while she was a cabinet member, and 
had been for several years? And how can they have confidence 
that this Labour Council is properly spending and taking care of 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

its budget when decisions like this have been taken without any 
formal oversight? 
Councillor Shah responded, ‘for the purposes of those who 
aren’t elected members I’ll try and explain in plain English how 
we write grant agreements to make sure that we actually get the 
benefit that is agreed for Oldham and the community as part of 
that grant.  
In drafting grant agreements we ensure we are clear about the 
benefits and conditions that we expect for the grant and we then 
monitor those conditions or the delivery of those benefits to 
make sure we get value for the money we give.  
I can confirm that the Council has been actively monitoring the 
conditions of the recent grant agreement for Oldham Athletic. 
This monitoring has not resulted in any circumstances being 
identified where it would be necessary to trigger the clawback 
condition. Consequently there has been no requirement for 
Cabinet to consider a report in respect of this matter.  
In relation to the 2011 grant agreement, I assume that the 
Councillor is referring to a short period of time under previous 
club management arrangements when the North Stand was not 
made available for the community to use, which was a grant 
condition at that time. 
I understand that the decision not to enact the clawback clause 
at that time was not formally recorded. While I’m not sighted on 
all the details, this matter has already been investigated by the 
Council’s Corporate Governance and Audit Team, and they 
found that it was clear that the purpose for which the grant was 
given has been and continues to be fulfilled.’ 
The next question was submitted by Garth Harkness,  
Can I welcome the cabinets decision to recently make 20mph 
zones permanent in some of Saddleworth’s villages. This is 
something Liberal Democrats have been advocating some time. 
Can I also welcome the cabinet members response to my 
proposals to look at road safety and 20mph zones in Diggle.  
Does he share the same concerns as me that the Conservative 
government are considering restrictions on councils’ ability to 
impose 20mph speed limits as part of a new shift against green 
policies and traffic schemes?  
Does he agree that the 20 MPH and green initiatives here has 
been a success and the stance by the Conservative government 
is short-sighted. It is already being introduced in Wales and 
Scotland, and many local authorities in England have adopted it 
as the default. Does he believe that the Conservative 
government should let local councils run their own areas? 
Councillor Goodwin responded, ‘The Road Danger Reduction 
Group (RDRG) - led by Transport for Greater Manchester 
(TfGM) - is currently re-assessing the speed limit policy and the 
implementation of lower speed limits in the light of the ever-
increasing use of the highway by non-motorised users (people 
walking, scooting, cycling etc).  
The existing 20-mph speed limits were introduced using 
temporary powers granted by Central Government during the 
Covid Pandemic. These powers expired in April 2022.  
As and when funding becomes available, Oldham Council is 
changing the temporary measures to permanent physical 
restrictions and we are working with all partners to ensure that Page 2



 

the changes and restrictions introduced are proportional and 
suitable for the local community.   
This work includes a Greater Manchester Police request to only 
introduce permanent 20-mph speed limits in conjunction with 
physical speed calming measures to support self-enforcement.’ 

5   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 21ST 
AUGUST 2023  

 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
21st August 2023 be approved.  

6   SPECIAL EDUCATION NEEDS AND/OR DISABILITIES 
(SEND) & INCLUSION STRATEGY 2023 - 2027  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Managing 
Director Children and Young People which sought approval of 
the Special Educational Needs and or Disabilities (SEND) and 
Inclusion Strategy 2023-2027. 
Following the end of the previous strategy, the 2023-2027 was 
presented which had been developed focusing of current issues 
and future priorities for Oldham’s children and young people with 
SEND.  
The development of the strategy coincided wit the publication if 
the SEND and Alternative Provisions Green Paper and the 
Department for Education’s local area partnership plans, which 
had been considered in developing the draft.  
The Strategy was attached at Appendix 1.  
 
Options/alternatives considered 
There are no alternatives to this strategy.  All local areas are 
expected to have a strategy outlining the provision and 
development of functions related to children and young people 
who have SEND.  This ensures that there is compliance with the 
Children & Families Act, 2014, the SEND Regulations, 2014 and 
the SEND Code of Practice, 8.1, 2015, which states: 
Local authorities must place children, young people, and 
families at the centre of their planning, and work with them to 
develop coordinated approaches to securing better outcomes, 
as should clinical commissioning groups (now integrated care 
partnerships/boards).  
They should develop a shared vision and strategy which focuses 
on aspirations and outcomes, using information from EHC plans 
and other planning to anticipate the needs of children and young 
people with SEN and ensure there are pathways into 
employment, independent living, participation in society and 
good health. Where pathways need further development, local 
authorities and CCGs [now integrated care partnership/board] 
should set out clear responsibilities, timescales, and funding 
arrangements for that work. This strategic planning will 
contribute to their: 

 Joint commissioning. 

 Local Offer, which must include support in preparing for 
adulthood  

 Preparation of EHC plans and support for children and 
young people to achieve the outcomes in their plan. 

 
Page 3



 

RESOLVED – That the Special Educational Needs and/or 
Disabilities and Inclusion Strategy 2023-2027 be approved.  

7   SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT WITH MIOCARE GROUP 
CIC  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Director of 
Adult Social Care which sought approval of the implementation 
of a refreshed services level agreement with Miocare CIC for a 
range of service provided.  
The report also sought a commitment from wider Council 
colleagues to work with the Miocare Group CIC to develop 
service level agreements and specifications of requirements for 
those corporate services that Miocare Group CIC buys back rom 
the Council.  
In partnership with Miocare, a refreshed service level agreement 
and a range of service specifications had been drafted and 
related solely to the services delivered through Oldham Care 
and Support Ltd.  
 
Options/alternatives considered  
Option 1 - Do not enter into a new Service Level Agreement, 
and do not develop Service Level Agreements and 
specifications of requirements for services Miocare buys back 
from the Council. 
This would leave both the Council and Miocare Group CIC in a 
position where the relationship and the services to be delivered 
are not covered by a compliant, up to date agreement, leading 
to lack of clarity for all parties.  
Option 2 – Do not enter into a new Service Level Agreement 
until the future focus of Miocare Group is clarified, and do not 
develop Service Level Agreements and specifications of 
requirements for services Miocare buys back from the Council 
until that time. 
This would carry the same risks as Option 1 and as it is 
envisaged that the full implementation of the target operating 
model and adult social care reform will take a significant period 
of time, it would leave uncertainty and lack of clarity for both the 
Council and Miocare. 
Option 3 – Enter into a new Service Level Agreement for the 
services delivered to the Council by Miocare Group CIC, and 
develop Service Level Agreements and specifications of 
requirements for services Miocare buys back from the Council. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Cabinet would consider the 
commercially sensitive information contained at Item 10 of the 
agenda before making a decision.  

8   TREASURY MANAGEMENT QUARTER ONE REPORT 
2023/24  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Director of 
Finance which provided Members with details of the 
performance of the Treasury Management function of the 
Council for the first quarter of 2023/24 and provided a 
comparison of performance against the 2023/24 Treasury 
Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators. 

Page 4



 

In order to comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management the Council was required to consider the 
performance of the Treasury Management function.  
The report provided an additional update and included a new 
requirement in the 2021 CIPA code mandatory from 1st April 
2023 of quarterly reporting of the Treasury Management 
Prudential Indicators.  
 
Options/alternatives considered  
In order that the Council complies with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice it has no other option than to consider and approve the 
contents of the report. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management Quarter one 
report and the Treasury Management activity and projected 
outturn be noted and commended to Full Council.   

9   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   

RESOLVED- That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they contain exempt information under paragraphs 
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and it would not, on 
balance, be in the public interest to disclose the reports. 

10   SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT WITH MIOCARE GROUP 
CIC  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to the commercially sensitive 
information in relation to Item 7 - Service Level Agreement with 
Miocare Group CIC. 
 
RESOLVED – That:  

1. A new Service Level Agreement with Miocare Group CIC 
be approved. 

2. The wider corporate services work with Miocare to 
develop Service Level Agreements and specifications of 
requirements for services Miocare buys back from the 
Council be endorsed.  

 
 

The meeting started at 6.00pm and finished at 6.18pm 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 

CABINET 
02/10/2023 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillor Shah (in the Chair) 
Councillors Ali, Brownridge, Dean, Goodwin, Jabbar, Mushtaq, 
and Taylor 
 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Fida 
Hussain. 

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no public questions for this meeting of the Cabinet 
to consider. 

5   PLACES FOR EVERYONE PLAN: A JOINT 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT FOR 9 GREATER 
MANCHESTER LOCAL AUTHORITIES (BOLTON, BURY, 
MANCHESTER, OLDHAM, ROCHDALE, SALFORD, 
TAMESIDE, TRAFFORD AND WIGAN) - PROPOSED 
MODIFICATIONS CONSULTATION  

 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Executive Director, Place 
and Economic Growth which provided an update on the Places 
for Everyone (PfE) Plan and its independent examination. The 
report sought approval for the PfE modifications (Main, 
Additional and those relating to the policies map), and 
associated supporting background documents, to be subject to a 
period of representations for 8 weeks commencing no earlier 
than 9th October 2023. A summary of what the modifications 
would mean for the overall aims of the Plan and specifically for 
Oldham was included within the report. Following the conclusion 
of the consultation, the Inspectors would consider all the 
representations made on the proposed Main Modifications 
(MM’s) before finalising the examination report and the schedule 
of recommended MMs. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Licensing advised 
Members of a formatting error on the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority regarding one of the modifications. 
However, Cabinet was assured that this error would be 
corrected prior to the commencement of the formal consultation 
period. 
 
The Cabinet was also aware that this matter had recently been 
considered by the Place Economic Growth and Environment 
Scrutiny Board at its special meeting on 26th September 2023. 
At that meeting, Scrutiny Board members had endorsed the 

Public Document Pack

Page 7



 

recommendations in the report and requested that Cabinet 
concur. 
 
Resolved: 

1. That the Cabinet notes the progress made in respect of 
the Places for Everyone Plan (PfE); 

2. That the Cabinet agrees that the PfE modifications (Main, 
Additional and those relating to the policies map), and 
associated supporting background documents, are to be 
subject to a period of representations, for a period of 8 
weeks commencing no earlier than 9th October 2023; and  

3. That the Cabinet agrees the next steps for the production 
of the PfE Plan (detailed in paragraphs 2.77 to 2.80 of the 
submitted report).  

 
The meeting started at 6.00pm and ended at 6.05pm  

 

Page 8



 

 

  
 

PART A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Ensuring our services and data is protected against loss is critical for both disaster 
recovery scenarios and to protect against accidental deletion, corruption or other error 
leading to a loss of information.  The Council has utilised Commvault hardware and 
software for several years to safeguard our on-premises data in Oldham. This has been a 
very effective and reliable mechanism for backing up system and user data.  However, the 
modern IT landscape provides little protection for that data beyond retaining multiple, 
geographically separate copies.  There is no ability to protect the backup data against 
malicious damage (e.g. Ransomware attack), nor any mechanism to protect services held 
in the Cloud. The timeframe for recovery of services on a large scale would make 
restoration in a DR scenario unacceptable, and the hardware supporting the service is 
approaching the end of its life.  As such, the ability of Commvault to be an effective 
solution as we advance is highly questionable. 

 
Executive Summary 
 
The purpose of the report is to ask for funding from the Cabinet to procure a modern data 
protection service which is Cloud aware (to enable it to support our cloud migration 
strategy), able to effectively protect data against deletion or manipulation (immutability) 
and capable of interrogating data being backed up to identify and mitigate against potential 
threats (ransom/malware etc.). 

Report to CABINET 

 
Rubrik Air Gap Backup Solution 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Cllr Jabbar – Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate 
Resources 
 
Officer Contact:   Sayyed Osman, Deputy Chief Executive  
 
Report Author: John Craig, Senior IT Project Manager 
 
6th September 2023 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 

  2 

 
Oldham IT has investigated several options around a modern data protection solution 
based on the market leaders in this area (according to Gartner's Magic Quadrant) and 
identified Rubrik's 'Zero Trust Data Management' solution as the ideal candidate to replace 
our legacy backup product.  Many Councils, particularly those hit with ransomware, have 
identified Rubrik as best placed to protect them moving forwards – Redcar & Cleveland 
being a significant relevant example, where they also conducted a detailed assessment of 
the market and then ultimately selected Rubrik.  
 
Rubrik is working with 50+ Councils across the UK, including Manchester City Council, 
GMCA, Birmingham City Council and Blackpool Council. 
 
Our goal is to meet the following outcomes: 

 Our ability to securely protect and recover Oldham Council data is a significant 
measurable improvement.   

 An ability to protect Cloud hosted services and data.   

 An ability to automatically interrogate data held in backups will allow a better 
understanding of the data type (for governance purposes) and identify potential 
dormant threats or malicious files.  

 
The Rubrik platform will also uniquely allow the Council to identify where sensitive data is 
located within the business (i.e. PII, PCI, credit card numbers, NI numbers) and greatly 
enhances reporting of any breach that may result in regulatory fines and/or legal action. 
This would also increase the Council's security posture in meeting & exceeding the NCSC 
Cyber Assessment Framework (CAF), particularly the NCSC's 3-2-1 Framework.  
 
 
Recommendations 
 
Procure the Rubrik Air Gap system and migrate all Council data and backup requirements 
to the Rubrik solution, ceasing the use of the Commvault solution altogether. This 
approach provides the most comprehensive risk mitigation by covering all data and 
functions, ensuring the ability to promptly restore data and Council services. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 10



 

  3 

Cabinet 16th October 2023 
  
 
Rubrik Air Gap Backup Solution 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 Oldham IT has investigated several options around a modern data protection solution based 

on the market leaders in this area (according to Gartner's Magic Quadrant) and identified 
Rubrik's 'Zero Trust Data Management' solution as the ideal candidate to replace our legacy 
backup product.  Many Councils, particularly those hit with ransomware, have identified 
Rubrik as best placed to protect them moving forwards – Redcar & Cleveland being a 
significant relevant example, where they also conducted a detailed assessment of the 
market and then ultimately selected Rubrik. Rubrik is working with 50+ Councils across the 
UK, including Manchester City Council, GMCA, Birmingham City Council and Blackpool 
Council 

 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 The existing Commvault backup solution is not immutable or air-gapped, and so is 

potentially vulnerable to data loss or corruption through a malware attack (As seen in 
Redcar and Cleveland Council and more recently. with Manchester University) 

 
 
3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 The option to stay with the incumbent supplier, Commvault, was considered. However, this 

option was a more expensive option and did not provide the guarantees around data 
recovery and Recovery Time Objective (RTO) that the Rubrik solution does. 

 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 Procure the Rubrik Air Gap system and migrate all Council data and backup requirements 

to the Rubrik solution, ceasing the use of the Commvault solution altogether. This approach 
provides the most comprehensive risk mitigation by covering all data and functions, 
ensuring the ability to promptly restore data and Council services. 

 
 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 None 
 
6 Financial Implications  
 
6.1 The financial information is included in Part B Confidential Information. 
 
7 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 The NHS Shared Business Services, being a Central Purchasing Body, has entered into a 

framework arrangement with multiple service providers for the provision of Cyber Security 
Services. The Framework Agreement offers a complete range of external support services 
to help NHS and wider public sector organisations manage cyber risks and recover in the 
event of a cyber security incident. Under Lot 2 of the Framework Agreement (Cyber Security 
Consultancy Services) contracting authorities can commission specialist support to 
enhance cyber credentials, including Data Security On-Site Assessments, Security Testing, 
Technical Assurance, Forensics and Investigations, Policy Development, Awareness and 

Page 11



 

  4 

Training. The Framework Agreement allows for both direct awards and mini competitions. 
In this matter a direct award is proposed. Rule 4 of the Contract Procedure Rules together 
with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 allow for call-offs to be made under compliant 
framework arrangements. Therefore, provided the Commercial Procurement Unit is 
satisfied that the direct award criteria applicable to this Framework Agreement can be 
applied and provided the call-off is arranged and formalised in accordance with the terms 
of the Framework Agreement, with advice from Legal Services on the form of call-off 
contract, there are no known legal implications to the proposed recommendation. (Sarah 
Orrell, Commercial and Procurement Solicitor) 

 
8. Co-operative Implications 
 
8.1 Procuring Rubrik to protect data across services aligns to the Council’s Co-operative 

agenda as Rubrik is a single software platform that delivers backup, recovery, archival, 
compliance, and cloud data management that is secure from cyber-attacks with an air-
gapped, immutable file system that can’t be modified, deleted, or encrypted by hackers. 
This is essential as over the past few years there has been a growing threat of hackers 
stealing information. This will also allow services to maintain essential data relating to 
services and residents and deliver high-quality services (Mahmuda Khanom, Policy Support 
Officer) 

 
9 Human Resources Comments 
 
9.1 N/A – This is a technical requirement to replace critical equipment. 
 
10 Risk Assessments 
 
10.1 The Council is aware of ransomware attacks at other local authorities and the risks of loss 

of, or the inability to access data.   The existing software (Commvault) is approaching the 
end of support.  The existing backup solution is not immutable or air-gapped, and so is 
potentially vulnerable to data loss or corruption through a malware attack.  Attacks at 
Redcar and Cleveland Council and more recently with Manchester University have shown 
the severity of the financial and reputational impact a cyber-attack can have on an 
organisation. The Rubrik Air Gapped backup solution needs to be understood by those 
looking after business continuity, disaster recovery and emergency planning to ascertain 
how this will improve the Council’s resilience in the event of an incident. Consideration 
needs to be given around the changing IT technology and this product should be reviewed 
periodically to ensure it meets the changing IT landscape over time. There is a risk due to 
the complexity of the implementation and the numerous dependencies as part of this 
change, that other in-flight IT projects could be impacted.  
Vicki Gallacher (Head of Insurance and Information Governance) 

 
11 IT Implications 
 
11.1 This is an IT driven project and has been through the internal project governance board 

approval process. 
  
12 Property Implications 
 
12.1 N/A - This is a technical requirement to replace critical equipment. 
 
13 Procurement Implications 
 
13.1 Commercial Procurement Unit supports the recommendation: Option 2: Procure the Rubrik 

Air Gap system and migrate all Council data and backup requirements to the Rubrik solution, 
ceasing the use of the Commvault solution altogether. Procurement have worked with IT 

Page 12



 

  5 

colleagues and assisted with the evaluation of available applications, with Rubrik Air Gap 
system identified as the preferred solution. The procurement for this project will be via SBS 
Contract ref: SBS/19/CW/ZMD/9348, Lot 2 Cyber Security Consultancy Services, direct 
award. Oldham Council are set up on this framework, Procurement will ensure all buying 
guidelines are followed. This framework is compliant with the Councils’ Contract Procedure 
Rules and PCR compliant. (Senga Henstock – ICT Senior Buyer) 

 
14 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
14.1 There are no environmental and Health and Safety implications. The incumbent backup 

solution equipment will be replaced by more modern energy efficient hardware. 
 
15 Community cohesion disorder implications in accordance with Section 17 of the 

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 
15.1 None 
 
16 Oldham Impact Assessment completed (including impact on Children and Young 

People) 
 
16.1 Yes – This is attached at Appendix 1 
 
17 Key Decision 
 
17.1 Yes 
 
18 Key Decision Reference 
 

18.1 FCR-01-23 
 
19 Background Papers 
 
19.1 None 
 
20 Appendices  
 
20.1 Appendix 1 EIA Rubrik Air Gap Backup Solution 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 13

https://oldham365.sharepoint.com/sites/ICTPMO/JCR/JCR%20-%20101411%20-%20Rubrik/01.%20Commissioning/Cabinet%20Papers/Appendix%201%20EIA%20Rubrik%20Air%20Gap%20Backup%20Solution


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 Report to CABINET  

 
Creating a Better Place: Bi-Annual Update  

Portfolio Holder(s):  
 
Councillor Shah, Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Reform 
and Regeneration  
 
Councillor Elaine Taylor, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Licensing  
 
Councillor Mushtaq, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Children 
and Young People  
 
Councillor Hussain, Cabinet Members for Business, Employment and 
Enterprise  
 
Councillor Jabbar MBE, Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate 
Resources  
 
Councillor Ali, Cabinet Member for Education and Skills  
 
Councillor Brownridge, Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care  
 
Councillor Goodwin, Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods 
 
Councillor Dean, Cabinet Member for Communities and Culture  
 
Officer Contact:  
Emma Barton, Executive Director of Place & Economic Growth 
 
Report Author(s):  
Paul Clifford – Director of Economy 
Chris Lewis – CaBP Strategic Lead 

Date:  16 October 2023 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



Reason for Decision 
 
Cabinet approval was first obtained in January 2020 for the Council’s ‘Creating a Better Place 
(CaBP)’ strategic framework and capital regeneration programme.  Following the onset of the 
pandemic, the programme was reviewed and re-prioritised to confirm the projects included aligned 
to the borough’s economic recovery and to support the financial implications associated with 
responding to the Covid-19 virus: this was reported to Cabinet in July 2021.  
 
The programme remains on track to deliver new homes, create jobs and deliver against our Green 
New Deal commitments ensuring Oldham is a great place to live, work and visit with lots of family 
friendly and accessible places to go.   
 
Following recommendations from Scrutiny Committee for more regular updates on progress, this 
report provides Cabinet with an update on the strategic progress of the Creating a Better Place 
regeneration programme, including external funding opportunities secured, benefits realised for 
specific projects and the associated Social Value generated to Create a Better Place.    
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
The Council and our partners continue to make significant progress on the delivery of the Creating 
a Better Place programme which will ultimately reshape Oldham Town Centre but also reaches out 
across the borough.  
 
This report seeks to provide a comprehensive update on delivery achieved, it acknowledges the 
successes to date and sets out key milestones in respect of the flagship projects sitting across the 
programme.  
 
Nationally it has been widely recognised that there are significant delivery challenges in respect of 
the delivery of major capital regeneration schemes. Those challenges relate to a number of external 
factors which are often outside of the control of the Council. This includes elements such as rising 
supply chain costs, inflation, labour market challenges and over-saturation of the commercial market 
to name a few.  
 
Unfortunately, Oldham and the Creating a Better Place Programme has not been immune to those 
factors. This report therefore seeks approval for the reprofiling of existing capital resource facilitating 
the continued delivery of the seven schemes set out in section 5.  
 
In summary, Oldham has reached a pivotal point in respect of the Creating a Better Place 
programme with ‘spades in the ground’ and a number of significant transformational regeneration 
projects scheduled to reach completion over the next couple of years. This report aims to 
acknowledge and celebrate the successes to date whilst setting out the exciting journey over the 
coming year as we work towards realising the vision of Oldham ‘being a great place to visit with lots 
of family friendly and accessible places to go’.   
 
 

Recommendations 
 
Cabinet Members are asked to note and approve:  
 

- the progress being made in relation to the Creating a Better Place Programme that supports 
revenue savings generated, progress towards the borough’s carbon reduction targets, 
creation of new jobs, apprentice opportunities, new homes for Oldham’s residents and 
increased social value.   

 

- the technical, legal and commercial recommendations for certain projects within Part B of 
this report, including reprofiling the Capital Programme and reconfirming the delegations in 
place for certain projects in alignment with previous cabinet report resolutions.   

Page 16



 

Creating a Better Place: Bi-Annual Update   October 2023 
 
 
1.0 Background: 
  
1.1 The very best towns and cities around the world have one thing in common – they are both 

people and quality focused. Quality of place is paramount to thriving communities and we 
want Oldham to be a place where people feel they belong, they feel safe, proud and it is an 
exciting place where people can live, work and spend time.  

 
1.2 Growing our economy through social enterprise, starting new business ventures and 

supporting the expansion of existing businesses, apprentice opportunities for work and skills 
development, and development and construction employment opportunities is increasingly 
more important to ensure residents have access to paid work to support themselves and their 
families through various challenges including rising inflation.   

 
1.3 The Creating a Better Place (CaBP) programme has enabled a number of key partnerships 

to be strengthened ensuring Oldham has a strong narrative locally, regionally and nationally 
enabling Oldham, amongst other things, to secure substantial external funding to invest 
within the town and accelerate delivery of our regeneration activities to Create a Better Place.  
Most notable of these is the recant partnership announced with MUSE to create up to 2,000 
new homes across a number of strategic sites within Oldham Town Centre. 

 
1.4 The projects within the Town Centre will ensure its sustainability including the Spindles that 

the Council have acquired and works on site to develop new office accommodation, a new 
food court, new home for the indoor market and a Performance space.  In addition, across 
the Town Centre we are establishing a new public park, the delivery of 2,000 new homes 
whilst also protecting and investing in our historical assets through the redevelopment of the 
Old Library and conversion of the Old Post Office into a new theatre. 

 
1.5  CaBP also provides important revenue savings opportunities to ensure the best use of public 

funds, value for money is demonstrated and social value is embedded into all projects for 
wider community benefits.  The financial savings have been embedded into the Council’s 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy and Capital Programme. Separate annual reports are due 
for Cabinet consideration once again, which includes Creating a Better Place financial 
matters, as part of the annual budget setting procedures. 

 
1.6 Strong progress is being made against the priorities identified through comprehensive and 

ongoing consultation with members, residents and businesses to deliver family friendly 
activities, improved accessibility, sustainability, green energy, new jobs and apprenticeships, 
new businesses, filling empty units, more things to do and places to visit.  The update 
contained within this report evidences our progress in delivering against these key priorities. 

 
 
2.0 Creating a Better Place: Strategic Updates 
 
2.1 The CaBP Programme continues to make a strong positive impact to the regeneration of the 

town, creating Social Value and delivering financial savings.  The programme has delivered 
£4.2m of revenue savings to date with further additional savings projected over the next 
four years to the value of c£7.3m. 

 
2.2 Working closely with various partners locally, regionally, and nationally Oldham’s strong 

vision, plans and ability to deliver schemes have resulted in the CaBP Programme securing 
external funding in excess of £70m to date with the Council continuing to identify additional 
funding opportunities moving forward.  The detail has been reported separately through 
Cabinet reports to accept the grants or through Capital Treasury reports.  

 
 

Page 17



2.3 Our Green New Deal continues to progress at pace with various schemes in development 
and delivery, these include large capital infrastructure schemes including the Oldham Town 
Centre Low Carbon District Heat Network and Wrigley Head Solar Farm. The Green New 
Deal Programme continues its strong track record of securing external funding including £2m 
of external grant funding to enable decarbonisation works to commence on the Spindles 
shopping centre in support of the Councils continuing drive to decarbonise the Council’s 
buildings. 

 
2.4 The programme continues to act as a catalyst for new jobs within Oldham through the various 

projects both planned and in delivery.  The Broadway Green development is a prime example 
that includes 600,000sq feet of employment space, creating up to 2,000 new jobs and up 
to 500 new homes on the development.  The development is clear evidence of the private 
sector investing in Oldham with the recent addition of an ALDI and Costa on the site. Jobs 
and apprenticeships are also being created through the construction work both planned and 
underway within the Town Centre and across the town. 

 
2.5 We continue to perform well against our housing targets with the delivery of 403 homes 

against our target of 352 for 2022/23.  Our recently announced new strategic partnership 
with MUSE is set to deliver a further 2,000 much needed homes within the Town Centre.  
Further information on the MUSE strategic partnership is detailed later within this report. 
 

2.6 A key component of the CaBP programme is generating social value, which has substantial 
opportunity to benefit both individual residents and our wider communities.  Social value is 
firmly embed within CaBP as part of our procurement processes and secures a contractual 
commitment from our partners and contractors to deliver wider / additional benefits for 
Oldham’s residents and communities.  Examples include: new apprenticeships, job creation 
and educational sessions at local schools and colleges etc. 

 
2.7 To date the CaBP Programme has generated £15m worth of Social Value with an average 

15% SVP against contracts.  The social value benefits and outcomes measured / monitored 
have been reported previously to Scrutiny Committee as part of a performance related update 
on CaBP, but in summary the approach has delivered a number of benefits to date including: 

 679 weeks of apprenticeship training 

 1,270 hours of Career Support sessions 

 72 locally employed individuals 

 £24 million of additional local spend (use of local suppliers, materials, donations to . 
          communities etc) 

 584 Volunteer Hours  
 

Below are a few case study examples of where the construction partner on the Spindles 

redevelopment, Wilmott Dixon and their partners, have contributed to community action:  

 

Case Study:                                                                                             

 

The Wilmott Dixon team spent a morning at the Wildbrook 

Allotments in Oldham, helping the ‘Get Oldham Growing’ 

project. The team helped to clear out two overgrown and 

vandalised polytunnels which will be used to grow produce 

for the local community. The Spindles project is continuing 

to supply waste materials to the scheme which can be used 

at the allotments including items such as cardboard and 

piping.”  

Page 18



Willmott Dixon continues to work in various educational settings including recently at Oldham 

College to deliver a ‘World of Work Day’ with Year 9 students. The group spent the day 

rotating around various career focused workshops, where they were provided with 

information on the various elements of the Construction industry. The collaboration enabled 

the students to obtain valuable and meaningful careers guidance and advice. Sessions 

included Programme of works, Cost Design & Build, Tetrahedron Stem activity, information 

on Careers in Construction and how to continue further research into any areas of interest. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Finally, the Wilmott Dixon team and supply chain partners donated easter eggs which were 
kindly donated to Oldham Council Children Services: the eggs were distributed to families 
across Oldham. 
 

 
2.7 The following section of this report provides an overview of the projects progress, with 

commercially sensitive, legally sensitive, contractual and / or financial information within the 
part b report.  Much of this latter information will be publicly available in due course, but for 
now, it is reported within the part b to protect the commercial and legal position of the council 
and / or third party partners or businesses.   

 
 
3.0 Creating a Better Place: Project Updates  
 
3.1 Town Centre  
 
3.1.1 The transformational plans can also be viewed via a fly through video, bringing the town 

centre plans to life with the film outlining what we plan to do and where – including the 
redevelopment of Spindles Town Square Shopping Centre, the creation of a brand-new town 
centre park and a dedicated cultural quarter with new theatre. The video can be viewed here 
Welcome to your new town centre - YouTube.  Visible progress can be seen at various 
locations in the town centre, and regular updates are shared via various communication 
channels as projects work their way through the planning process combined with those 
currently on site.  All town centre projects are supporting the future footfall and vibrancy within 
the Town Centre.   

 
3.1.2 Town Centre projects include: redevelopment work at the Spindles on new office 

accommodation, new archives centre, the new Tommyfield Market and Food Court, and new 
Event Space.  In addition, other schemes currently on site in the town centre include were 
prioritised to safeguard and ensure the future sustainability of historical / heritage buildings, 
including the Old Library and the Old Post Office which will be transformed into a state-of-
the-art theatre as part of our ongoing development of Oldham’s Cultural Quarter.   

 
3.1.3 Whilst the CaBP vision for the town centre and wider programme is clearly articulated we 

continue to explore further opportunities in parallel to ensure a sustainable town centre that 
is safer, cleaner and greener with an improved shopping experience and regular events for 

Page 19

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VUDvkc19IKs


all generations within the Town Centre.   Further details on the various projects in 
development or delivery can be viewed here: Creating a Better Place | Oldham Council 

 
3.1.4 Members will recall that CaBP programme was reprioritised following comprehensive 

consultation with our local communities and businesses to help clearly define and ensure 
wider awareness and engagement on regeneration ambitions.  This work has also helped 
ensure that local priorities, and ideas and suggestions from local communities and 
businesses were embedded into the programme and associated project work in various 
stages from planning through to delivery. 

 
3.1.5 The engagement process formed part of the Big Oldham Conversation, with additional and 

more recent specific consultation and engagement events taking place both digitally and in 
person with specialist groups, residents, town centre businesses and market traders. These 
engagement sessions helped raise awareness about the proposals and allowed officers to 
seek feedback on the various town centre projects and the overall vision for the future of the 
town.   

 
3.1.6 Further project consultation will take place at the appropriate time in conjunction with 

standard practice for project development / planning application considerations, however 
feedback from residents, local business, visitors, and market traders continues to be positive 
and really helpful for shaping the following projects ahead of seeking approval for 
progression.   

 
3.1.7 The last six months has seen further interest in the town centre redevelopment with:  

o the national news about funding being confirmed for a new Eton STAR educational 
facility being confirmed within Oldham Town Centre (location to be confirmed);  

o MUSE being confirmed as the town centre strategic partner to accelerate delivery of 
new mixed use developments, much needed new homes, and the town centre park; 
and  

o funding confirmed for accessibility improvements to St Mary’s Bypass, to better 
connect neighbouring local communities to the town centre.  

 
 
3.2 Cultural Quarter: New Theatre  
 
3.2.1 Oldham Coliseum Theatre was much loved and has a proud history in the borough, but sadly 

closed earlier in the year following the withdrawal of the Arts Council England funding. 
 
3.2.2 This project will provide a new, state-of-the-art and fit-for-purpose Theatre in the town centre 

that meets modern requirements and provides additional, flexible, creative arts and 
performance spaces. The new theatre will meet the expectations of modern audiences and 
performers adjacent to other cultural buildings including the Old Library and Oldham Library 
and Gallery. 
 

3.2.3 Supported by a successful bid to the 
Government’s Towns Fund, plans 
continue to develop through more detailed 
stages to repurpose the Old Post Office 
(84 Union Street) and the former Quaker 
Meeting House behind it on Greaves 
Street in the heart of our cultural quarter.  
The proposals aim to expand the existing 
performing arts offer in Oldham; bringing in 
new audiences from within Oldham and 
further afield whilst creating new 
opportunities for people to take part in 
theatre-based activities and improving the 
range of events on offer.  The new theatre 
is currently planned to open in 2026. 

Page 20

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/201248/creating_a_better_place


3.3  Cultural Quarter: Old Library Building   
  
3.3.1 In direct response to requests from residents to help protect our important local heritage 

buildings and bring them back into use, the Council are investing in the Grade Two listed Old 
Library building on Union Street within the Town Centre as part of the ongoing development 
of the Cultural Quarter. 
 

3.3.2 The building is currently undergoing significant 
restoration with the first phase to protect the 
integrity of the building, preserve and restore 
where possible the historical features including 
the central staircase, replace steel work where 
appropriate and new roof now nearing 
completion.   
 

3.3.3 The next phase of the old Library is underway 
and will see the a full internal refurbishment, 
retaining and retro fitting where possible 
historical features, that will create a new 
council chamber and function facilities, a 
gallery and ‘flexible spaces’ linked to Gallery 
Oldham for local artists and performers to 
display their work and embrace creative 
collaborations whilst also hosting family friendly 
events.  

 
The building holds a special place in the hearts 
and memories of Oldham residents and will 
play a pivotal role as part of the Town Centre 
regeneration when it opens in early 2025, 
forming a cornerstone of the Cultural Quarter. 
 

 
3.4 Cultural Quarter: Public Green Space  
 
3.4.1 Located between the Old Library and Old Post office is Oldham’s first public park, Oldham 

recently approved plans to further strengthen the Cultural Quarter offer with a new public 
realm enhancements that will see the creation of an open flexible space off Southgate Street, 
which will become a centerpiece of the growing cultural quarter bringing together the three 
key buildings – the current Library and Gallery, the restored Old Library and the new theatre 
with a capacity expected to be c300-350.   The space will be able to hold an outdoor stage 
and will also be adaptable to suit activities such as outdoor arts classes, theatre 
performances and more. 

 
As part of the work, improvements will also be 
made to Southgate, Ashworth, and Greeves 
Street to include planting, new trees, seating 
areas, external lighting and improved paving.  
Improvements will be made to pedestrian and 
vehicle access to the town’s growing cultural 
quarter to ensure increased visitor numbers 
to the area are adequately managed. 
 
 

3.5  Spindles: Tommyfield Market 
 
3.5.1 We continue to pro-actively work with market traders and have regular discussions about the 

process of transitioning across into the new indoor Market within the Spindles Town Square 
Shopping Centre.   

Page 21



3.5.2 The new market will link directly into the Spindles 
shopping mall and out onto Parliament Square 
expected to deliver increased footfall for the 
traders who recognise the constraints of their 
current location.  The plans are for a split-level 
market with a retail market and a wide range of 
services at mall level whilst on the lower level, 
linking to Parliament Square, a food court is to 
be created where visitors can enjoy food and 
drink.    
 

3.5.3 The creation of the new indoor market within the Spindles complex will enable the existing 
Tommyfield Market site to be redeveloped as part of the new Town Centre Park. 
 
 

3.6 Spindles: New Event Space  
 

3.6.1 Our regeneration plans include an exciting new event space which will be located above 
Tommyfield Market and the new Food court with linkages directly into the Spindles shopping 
Centre and out onto Parliament Square boosting Oldham’s cultural, leisure, entertainment 
and events offer.  The design ensures a sustainable, modern, and flexible town centre 
location for future business events, weddings, ceremonies, conferences, and other creative 
performances.  Cabinet have previously considered the future of the QE Hall and the 
significant cost implications for maintaining the building, as it has exceeded its life 
expectancy. However, this new space will ensure events can continue in the heart of the 
town centre, with seated cabaret space for c.500 people, theatre style seating for c.700 
people and standing room for c.1,000 people as a music venue (for example) – this space 
can also be sub-divided as needed to host smaller public and private functions. 
 

3.6.2 Available both day and night, access to the facility 
will be via Parliament Square and a second 
entrance on Ashcroft Street with an adjacent car 
park.  Consultation on the Town Centre 
regeneration confirmed that local communities 
would welcome this new facility, with a wider 
selection of activities and a more diverse offer to 
support the future of the town centre for all 
generations to enjoy.   

 
Right above, is a recant photograph of the site 
where TJ Hughes was previously located, and 
which will be located the indoor Market, Food 
Court and new Events Space.  

 
The illustration (right) is an artist’s impression of 
the new façade onto Parliament Square. 
 
 

3.7  Spindles: Archive Store   
 
3.7.1 Some of Oldham's archives and museum artefacts are currently stored in various locations 

within council-owned buildings, due to the lack of specialist storage space.  The consolidation 
of artefacts distributed across various buildings also makes it difficult to allow viewing of items 
as they are not readily accessible. The proposed Accessible Archive & Collections Centre 
will enable members of the public to view the museum and archive items that are not on 
display, in a safe and accessible environment within the Spindles shopping centre.  
 

Page 22



3.7.2 Members of the public welcomed this new facility during the consultation and engagement 
events, especially with opportunities to provide enhanced accessibility for some of the 
collections.   
 
 

3.8  Spindles: Flexible / Social Enterprise Space  
  
3.8.1 As part of our economic recovery plans, we are very keen to continue to support new 

business startups, and social enterprise opportunities in the town centre: therefore, a new 
dedicated workspace is currently under construction on the upper mall of Spindles.  
 

3.8.2 The space will support businesses such as start-ups, micro-enterprises, social enterprises, 
and small businesses, as well as larger, more established, businesses looking for 
contemporary workspace as part of their post-pandemic ways of working. Oldham currently 
has nothing similar to offer, and this is an opportunity to inject something new into the local 
economy.  
 

3.8.3 We particularly want to support growing sectors such as creative design and media, in order 
to deliver new jobs for local people. The area will provide a flexible co-working space, creating 
room for businesses to collaborate and flourish. To encourage and support local 
entrepreneurs, we are working with partners and other stakeholders to provide a dedicated 
business growth and investment team based within the workspace.  This team will help local 
entrepreneurs in a wide range of ways – whether it's advice on getting their business idea off 
the ground, business growth assistance, or support with accessing funding and grants. 

 
3.8.4 The space has been designed to include rooms 

for private meetings, hot desking, consultations, 
and the whole space will be inclusive for all, 
including people with additional needs.  The 
proposal is to keep the workspace open into the 
evening – providing complementary networking 
opportunities, training and panel discussions, so 
that as businesses grow, we will support them to 
establish a more permanent base.  
 

 
 
3.9  Town Centre: Egyptian Room 
 
3.9.1 The transformation of the Old Town Hall’s Egyptian Room has reached a major milestone 

with work on the fit-out of the unit.  It’s a significant milestone in the plans for the future of the 
historic building – which will be transformed into a modern food hall, featuring six casual 
dining-style food stalls, a bar and a central seating area.  Catering for around 150 people, 
the Grade Two-listed space will offer both indoor and outdoor seating and will complement 
the Food Court across Parliament Square within the Spindles. 

3.9.2 The Egyptian Room will be converted into a bespoke 
contemporary food hall, all while preserving its historic 
character and original features.  The scheme is another 
example of the Council restoring and ensuring the 
sustainability of historic buildings across Oldham.  The 
Egyptian Room is a prime example of restoration of 
Victorian architecture with historical significance. It 
features original decorative glazed wall and column 
tiling, parquet and terrazzo flooring, plastered ceilings 
and original arched windows and doors.  Below is an 
artist’s impression of the space.   

Page 23



3.9.3 The scheme is being partially funded by the Future High Street Fund with the Council working 
in partnership with the Town Deal Board.  The scheme is expected to complete in the summer 
of 2024. 

 
3.10 Town Centre: New Park  
  
3.10.1 The redevelopment of Spindles Town Square Shopping Centre and relocation of Tommyfield 

Market will free up previously developed land across the town centre to enable brownfield 
sites to be repurposed for much-needed new homes. With a commitment to over 2,000 new 
homes in the town centre, this was fed into the PfE to significantly reduce the amount of 
development in the Green Belt across the borough.  
 

3.10.2 To complement these significant residential areas, we are also developing design plans 
following feedback during the consultation events for a new brand new 5.7-acre park to create 
new green, open space for residents to exercise, play, or spend time with friends / family and 
for town centre workers / colleagues to enjoy outdoor space in their lunch breaks.  It is 
currently planned for the park to open in 2025. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.10.3 Concerns have been registered about future maintenance and anti-social behaviour: this has 
been factored into the emerging design ideas with indirect surveillance from the neighboring 
residential areas, new opportunities to ensure the space is used for outside events, and local 
schools and community groups have access to the space for leisure and sensory activities.  
 

 
 

 
 

Page 24



3.11 Town Centre: Accessible Oldham Public Realm Improvements 
 
3.11.1 The Accessible Oldham public realm improvements programme is currently in various stages 

from design through to delivery and will improve the streets and roads across the town centre 
making it easier and more enjoyable to get around – especially for pedestrians and cyclists.  
The first phase, Albion Street and Henshaw Street is now complete with the next phase West 
Street, Cheapside and Fountain St currently underway. The scheme will progress throughout 
the Town Centre creating new rain gardens, seating areas and quality clean public space 
that will complement the other projects already underway and planned.  
 

3.11.2 A site office is located in one of the units in 
Tommyfield Market, so members of the 
public, traders or town centre businesses 
have easy access to the project team for any 
questions or queries that might arise during 
the construction works.  However, we 
continue to ask for patience and support from 
local residents and businesses as we 
continue to minimise the impact on the local 
community while the work takes place. 

 
 
3.12 Green New Deal  
 
3.12.1 The Oldham Green New Deal (OGND) Strategy was adopted in March 2020 and deals with 

the upgrade of energy infrastructure in the Council’s estate and Oldham borough to achieve 
stretching carbon neutrality targets. The strategy aims to achieve these aims by securing 
investment and delivery capacity in low carbon infrastructure to realise a range of benefits 
such as jobs and training opportunities for residents in this key growth sector, contracts for 
Oldham’s local Green Technology and Services sector businesses, lower energy bills for 
businesses and residents and improvements in local green infrastructure for communities. 

 
3.12.2 The OGND delivery programme comprises a range of initiatives and projects including large 

capital infrastructure schemes such as the Oldham Town Centre Low Carbon District Heat 
Network (£40m), decarbonisation retrofit of Spindles (£4m) and Wrigley Head Solar Farm 
(£1.3m). With the exception of Wrigley Head, most of these capital schemes have either 
secured grant funded (e.g. by the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme) or the intention is 
that they will be funded and delivered by our private sector should the Council wish to 
proceed on this basis (e.g. Town Centre District Heat Network).  

 
3.12.3. This Town Centre Heat Network will form a strategic piece of energy infrastructure linking 

into the redevelopment of the Town Centre as a whole, including the new Master Developer 
partnership with Muse, and has already attracted significant grant funding and capacity 
support from the Department of Energy Security & Net Zero and the GM Combined Authority. 
First Choice Homes Oldham are also a key partner in that project, and we have the 
opportunity to transfer the existing heat network at St Mary’s into the new town centre wide 
heat network scheme at a future point in time.   

 
3.12.4 Other projects within the OGND delivery programme include RED WoLF (demonstrating an 

innovative hybrid low carbon electrical heating system in 19 Council-owned social homes at 
Primrose Bank), Alexandra Park Eco-Centre (depot renovation), Northern Roots (now an 
independent charity developing the UK’s largest eco-park) and the Oldham Green New Deal 
Delivery Partnership.   

 
3.12.5 The OGND Delivery Partnership initiative is the most significant of all of the projects within 

the OGND programme, and aims to establish a cross-sector investment and delivery 
partnership which will procure a major commercial infrastructure developer partner to work 
with Oldham’s anchor organisations and communities to develop and deliver a pipeline of 
low carbon infrastructure projects to meet local needs and priorities (including the reduction 

Page 25



of energy bills for residents and businesses). Oldham’s Local Area Energy Plan (developed 
by Energy Systems Catapult as part of the GM Local Energy Market project) shows an 
opportunity for up to £5.6bn of low carbon infrastructure in the borough which will be required 
to reach carbon neutrality.  

 
3.12.6 The Council has carried out three market engagement exercises which have each showed 

significant interest from major market players in working in Oldham on a collaborative basis. 
The Council has also recently submitted a bid for £1.6m of revenue grant funding from 
Innovate UK (as part of a consortium with GMCA and Manchester CC) which, if successful, 
will fund all costs associated with establishing the OGND Delivery Partnership. The 
partnership is expected to be self-funding on an ongoing basis. 

 
3.12.7 Further grant funding from the Levelling Up Fund is supporting the creation of the Green 

Shoots Centre, a state-of-the-art zero carbon business incubator facility to be situated at 
Rhodes Bank (also the site for the proposed low carbon heat network energy centre), the 
new town centre park and an education centre at Northern Roots, as well as improvements 
in active travel infrastructure in the Oldham Greenway.  

 
3.12.8 The Council also recently secured £140K revenue grant funding from Connected Places 

Catapult to develop area-based retrofit schemes for ‘able to pay’ Oldham residents to support 
them to improve the energy performance and comfort of their homes and reduce their energy 
bills over the longer term. 

3.13 Green New Deal: Town Centre Heat Network 
  

3.13.1 Since 2020, the Council has been carrying out feasibility work looking at the potential for a 
wide-scale low carbon district heat network to serve civic, commercial and residential 
buildings in Oldham Town Centre. This process has been supported by revenue grant 
funding from the Department of Energy Security and Net Zero (formerly BEIS) Heat 
Network Delivery Unit. The Coal Authority has also been commissioned to provide desktop 
feasibility reports looking at the potential to use heat extracted from the Minewater in 
disused coal mines underneath the Town Centre, in particular at the Rhodes Bank site 
which is the preferred location for a new low carbon energy centre (adjacent to the Green 
Shoots Business Centre).   

 
3.13.2 This latest piece of feasibility work is now complete which shows potential for a £40m low 

carbon district heat network incorporating the existing heat network at St Mary’s, currently 
owned by First Choice Homes Oldham (3.5MW biomass boiler) at St Mary’s and 
augmenting it with a new hybrid low carbon energy centre at Rhodes Bank which will be 
able to generate heat from a variety of different sources including Air Source, Sewer 
Source and Minewater Source.   

 
3.13.3 The next stage of development of the scheme will see the Council apply to the DESNZ 

Green Heat Network Fund for up to £1m to carry out further work including the drilling of 
test boreholes at Rhodes Bank as a first step of invasive feasibility work to establish 
whether Minewater heat is feasible at the site. Once commercialisation work is complete, 
the Council intends to procure a strategic low carbon investment and delivery partner for 
the borough, and delivery of the new Town Centre heat network project will be the “anchor” 
project in that procurement. The Council will not itself be investing in the scheme, but 
Council buildings will be connected to the new heat network to receive low carbon heat in 
support of achieving the carbon neutrality targets set out in the Oldham Green New Deal 
Strategy 2020-25.   

 
3.13.4 Construction of the new heat network programmed for completion in 2026. 
 

Page 26



3.14  Green New Deal: Green Shoots Centre  
 
3.14.1 The Green Shoots Centre, funded by the Levelling Up fund, will be located at Rhodes Bank 

and will address the requirement for collaborative space for ‘Green technology’ start-ups and 
growth businesses.  The Centre aims to be net zero and is to be located alongside and 
connected into the Town Centre Minewater Heat Network for sustainable and low-cost 
heating. 

 
3.14.2 Alongside the construction of the Centre the 

scheme will work with partners to develop the 
Green Tech Sector (GTS) Network of businesses 
linking in with our Green New Deal Strategy, 
develop links to Higher Education institutes to 
maximise the opportunity of the ‘green economy’ 
across Oldham.  The Green shoots centre is 
currently programmed to open in 2025. 

 
 
3.15 Royton Town Hall  
 
3.15.1 The Victorian styled Royton Town Hall and Library buildings have been identified for retention 

and investment as part of the Council’s Creating a Better Place Strategic Asset Review. It 
will ensure these buildings of local heritage importance are improved and retained to benefit 
the local community and wider town. The investment will see the buildings brought back to 
their former glory with enhanced use as a more accessible, friendly, and welcoming 
community facility, with sustainable / energy efficiency measures incorporated where 
possible. The works have already commenced on site with refurbishment of the clock tower, 
some internal alterations and demolition of the extension buildings to the rear now complete. 
Work currently underway includes the erection of a new rear gable end wall and windows in-
keeping with the original architectural design of the building, a new roof and refreshed internal 
layout restoring and retaining historical features wherever possible.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
    

3.15.2 Works have involved a significant amount of scaffolding around the building and both the 
Council and Seddons construction have been working closely with local businesses and 
residents to avoid any major disruption.  We continue to ask for patience and support from 
local residents and businesses whilst works continue with the building likely to reopen in April 
2023. 

 
3.15.3 During the construction works, the library and associated services have temporarily relocated 

to the Methodist Church near the shopping precinct to ensure continuity of services for the 
local community.  The Library and Town Hall are currently scheduled to reopen in April 2014. 
 

 
3.14 Alexandra Park Eco Depot  
 
3.14.1 Work to build a new environmentally friendly depot at Alexandra Park is underway to provide 

a modern working space for our Environmental Services teams and will also play an active 
role in the community through a range of uses such as spaces for events, education and 
recreation.   

Page 27



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.14.2 The new energy efficient building, which is part of our commitment through the Green New 

Deal to decarbonise our estate where possible, is the first phase of our plan to create a 
sustainable hub at the park that will be heated by air source heat pumps providing sustainable 
heat and hot water. 
 

3.14.3 The Eco Centre is currently programmed to open in late 2023/ early 2024. 
 
 
4.0 Financial Comments   

 
4.1 The financial implications are either contained the Part B report, have already been reported 

in separate reports, or will be included in future reports as and when individual Creating a 
Better Place Projects progress.                                           

(James Postle, Finance Manager) 
 

5.0 Legal Services Comments 
 
5.1 Specific legal information relating to various projects is contained within the part B report.  
 
5.2 External legal advice may be required from time to time to support the delivery of Council 

projects as part of the Council’s Capital Programme and aligned to the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy. This will dovetail with in-house legal teams and help to ensure all 
necessary steps are taken/documents are in place to protect the Council’s position and 
commercial interests. Any such commissions will be obtained through lawful and compliant 
procurement exercises to ensure value for money and services are fit for purpose.  

 
5.3 All work carried out/advice given will need to be governed by and in accordance with the 

Council’s Constitution. 
 
5.4 Any contracts for the supply of works, goods or services made in the name of the Council 

will need to comply with the Council's Contract Procedure Rules and all relevant EU 
regulations. All land transactions will need to comply with the Council’s Land and Property 
Protocol. All financial transactions will need to comply with the Council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules. 

 
5.5 In developing the Medium-Term Property Strategy and Projects to support it alongside the 

Council’s Capital Programme the Council will need to be mindful of the following : 

 Procurement issues 

 State aid issues 

 The Council’s Fiduciary Duty 

 Best Consideration 

 Vires Considerations 
 
5.6 Part B of this report contains information as is detailed in Paragraph 3 of the revised Part 1 

of Schedule 1A of the Local Government Act 1972. The exclusion from publication is justified 
for the reasons stated.   

 Page 28



5.7 All legal issues will be reviewed and kept under advisement during the process and as 
Schemes and Projects come forward and progress.    

 
(Rebecca Boyle – Group Solicitor, Corporate Team) 

 
6.0 Human Resources Comments 
 
6.1 There are no HR implications identified at this time.                                                                      

 
(Catherine Pearson, Strategic HR Lead) 

  
7.0 Co-operative Agenda   
 
7.1 The revised programme, the new vision, direction and approach provides numerous 

opportunities to support the development of a Co-operative Borough both through how 
decisions are taken and the engagement of key partners, service providers and communities 
in this; and the creation of new opportunities for development that includes more co-operative 
businesses.                            

(Jonathan Downes) 
 
8.0. Risk Assessments 
 
8.1 All risk information is contained within the Part B report.                               

 
(Victoria Gallagher, Head of Insurance and information Governance) 

 
 

9.0 IT Implications 
 
9.1 None identified at this time.                                    (Lindsey Al-Basri, Head of ICT Projects) 
 
 
10.0 Property Implications and Health & Safety 

 
10.1 All property information is contained within the Part B report.                             

 
(Katy Webster, AD Property) 

 
 
11.0 Procurement Implications 
 
11.1 All procurement information is contained within the Part B report.                   

 
(Dan Cheetham, Procurement Business Partner) 

 
 
12.0 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
12.1 Creating a Better Place is an essential transformational element in achieving environmental 

targets and wider economic regeneration objectives such supporting growth for Oldham’s 
green economy, reducing carbon and reducing the impacts from national increases to 
energy bills.                                                     

           (Andrew Hunt, Green Energy & Sustainability Manager) 
 
13.0 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
13.1 There has been a detailed stage one Equality Impact Assessment completed for the 

Creating a Better Place programme. Colleagues in Policy have reviewed this document and 

Page 29



have provided feedback.  At the heart of the projects contained within this programme there 
is the desire to enhance to community cohesion and promote equality.            

 
           (Sarah Whittle, Public Health Policy & Strategy Officer) 

 
14.0 Equality Impact Assessment Completed including implications for children 
 
14.1  An Equality Impact Assessment was completed as part of the Creating a Better Place 

Programme. This will be reviewed again as the projects progress and are further developed.                                                                                   
 
(Gail Aspinall, Capital Programme and Special Projects Manager)  

 
15.0 Key Decision 
 
15.1 Yes  
 
16.0 Key Decision Reference (for Creating a Better Place) 
 
16.1 ESR-10-21 
 
 
17.0 Background Papers 

17.1 Please find below a link to the CaBP web page that also includes a fly through video.  In 
addition, for information please find below previous CaBP update reports. 

 
 Creating a Better Place Website Link: 

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/201248/creating_a_better_place#:~:text=Creating%20a%2
0Better%20Place%20is,jobs%20and%20100%20apprenticeship%20opportunities. 

 
File Ref : (Public Pack)Agenda Document for Cabinet, 17/02/2022 16:00 (oldham.gov.uk) 
Name of File : Agenda Documents for Cabinet 17-02-22 
Records held in Democratic Service, Civic Centre Oldham 
Officer Name : Liz Drogan 
Contact No :0161 770 4705 
 

File Ref : Agenda front sheet 25th-Jul-2022 18.00 Cabinet.pdf (oldham.gov.uk) 
Name of File : Creating a Better Place Update: Spindles Redevelopment 
Records held in Democratic Service, Civic Centre Oldham 
Officer Name : Liz Drogan 
Contact No :0161 770 4705 
 
File Ref : Agenda Documents for Cabinet 17-02-23  
Name of File : Creating a Better Place Update  
Records held in Democratic Service, Civic Centre Oldham 
Officer Name : Liz Drogan 
Contact No :0161 770 4705 
 
 

 
 

Page 30

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/201248/creating_a_better_place#:~:text=Creating%20a%20Better%20Place%20is,jobs%20and%20100%20apprenticeship%20opportunities
https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/201248/creating_a_better_place#:~:text=Creating%20a%20Better%20Place%20is,jobs%20and%20100%20apprenticeship%20opportunities
https://committees.oldham.gov.uk/documents/g8494/Public%20reports%20pack%2017th-Feb-2022%2016.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://committees.oldham.gov.uk/documents/g8551/Agenda%20frontsheet%2025th-Jul-2022%2018.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=0


Document is Restricted

Page 31

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 37

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 39

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	Minutes
	Cabinet Minute - 2-10-23
	Minutes


	6 Rubrik Air Gap Backup Solution
	7 Creating a Better Place Update
	9 Rubrik Air Gap Backup Solution
	Appendix 1 EIA Rubrik Air Gapped Backup Solution

	10 Creating a Better Place Update

